IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 09-2390

LEONARDO MARRERO,

Petitioner,

-VS-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW DIRECT CONFLICT FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

CARLOS J. MARTINEZ Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1960

Shannon Patricia McKenna Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar Number 385158 Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, Leonardo Marrero, was the Appellant/Defendant in the proceedings below and the Respondent, State of Florida, was the Appellee/Plaintiff in the proceedings below. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the lower courts, by proper name, or as Petitioner and Respondent.

The symbol "R." will refer to the record before the Third District Court of Appeal. The symbol "T." will refer to the transcripts of the trial court proceedings. All emphasis is added unless otherwise noted.

BASIS FOR REVIEW

The decision below, *Marrero v. State*, 22 So. 3d 822 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), is being reviewed based on a conflict with the following decisions:

- (1) Carnley v. State, 89 So. 808 (Fla. 1921) and Negron v. State, 306 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 1975), receded from on other grounds by Butterworth v. Fleuellen, 389 So. 2d 968 (Fla. 1980), which require the state to prove with conclusive evidence, not inference or conjecture, its allegation of value beyond a reasonable doubt;
- (2) *Miller v. State*, 667 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) and *Wingfield v. State*, 751 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000), which hold that in felony criminal mischief cases the evidence is insufficient to prove a damage threshold greater than \$1000 when the state does not produce any evidence regarding the monetary value of damages;
- (3) Wingfield and T.B.S. v. State, 935 So. 2d 98 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006), which require that determinations in assessing monetary figures for damage require special skill, experience, or training; and
- (4) *T.B.S.*, *A.D. v. State*, 866 So. 2d 752 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), *S.P. v. State*, 884 So. 2d 136, 138 (Fla. 2d D CA 2004), and *Clark v. State*, 746 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), as a life-experience exception was not applied in any of these factually similar cases.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Leonardo Marrero, was charged with and convicted of felony criminal mischief in violation of Section 806.13, Florida Statutes. *See* § 806.13(1)(b)3, Fla. Stat. (2006). (R. 6-7). At trial and on appeal, Mr. Marrero challenged the legal sufficiency of the evidence to establish that the damage threshold was \$1000 or greater, where there was no evidence presented regarding the cost of repair or replacement of the four damaged glass entrance doors.

The charges stemmed from an incident, which the jury viewed on videotape, on October 5, 2006 just before 8:00 p.m. when Mr. Marrero drove a Ford F150 pick-up truck into an entrance to the Miccosukee casino. (T. 215-219). The casino's facilities director described the entrance as consisting of four hurricane-impact, sun-resistant 16-17 foot glass doors, each framed in special aluminum, one 42 inches wide with an automated entry for the handicapped. (T. 191-192, 197-98). The doors were installed eight years earlier, when the building was constructed; they were operational prior to the crash, but were destroyed and had to be replaced as a result of the crash. *Id*.

No testimony or other evidence of the repair or replacement costs of the entrance doors was admitted into evidence. The state asked the facilities director if he had ever previously replaced or purchased glass similar to that destroyed in the incident, but he

replied no. (T. 198). The state also attempted to introduce the temporary repair costs. (T. 194). The defense, relying on *R.C.R. v. State*, 916 So. 2d 49 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005), objected to the introduction of the temporary repair costs, as the temporary repair costs may be rendered inadmissible if the permanent repair costs are also introduced, as the sum of these costs may exceed the fair market value of the doors. (T. 195-196). The state offered to not admit the permanent repair costs, but argued that the temporary costs should be admitted. (T. 196). The trial court sustained the defense objection. (T. 196). The state never attempted to admit the permanent repair costs. (T. 196-199).

The defense moved for a judgment of acquittal on felony criminal mischief as the state presented no evidence regarding the value of the damage to the casino entrance. (T. 238, 246). The trial court agreed: "I don't see any evidence to the value." (T. 241). When the state suggested that the jury rely upon its "common sense experience," the trial court replied, "I think the State has to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. I don't think they can guess." (T. 241). The trial court repeatedly asked the state: "Where is the evidence of the damage?" (T. 241-242).

The state asked to recall the facility director, but the trial court reminded the state that it had already asked the facility director about the costs and he didn't know anything about the costs. (T. 241-242). The trial court asked: "What exhibit did you

not introduce that you wish you had introduced? I never saw another exhibit." (T. 242). The state replied that it did not seek to introduce the other invoice regarding the permanent repairs based on the trial court's earlier ruling that the temporary costs were not admissible. The trial court reminded the state that it excluded the temporary repair costs as they were temporary. The state replied that it read the cases and "to me any kind of repair, any replacement value other than fair market value, et cetera, as delineated—" (T. 243). The trial court interrupted: "All right." It then reserved ruling on the motion for acquittal as to felony criminal mischief. (T. 243).

The defense rested, and renewed its motion for judgment of acquittal. The trial court once again pointed out its concerns with the lack of evidence:

I will be honest with you. I am concerned about the lack of evidence of value. The case L.C. versus State, 579 Southern 2d 783 states that in the absence of any proof of value, adjudication to delinquency, it's a juvenile case, was reduced to criminal mischief as a second degree misdemeanor, and I am not sure that there was any proof of value here. (T. 246-47).

The trial court reserved ruling on the renewed motion for acquittal, and the issue was presented to the jury. (T. 247). The court instructed the jury:

The punishment provided by law for the crime of criminal mischief is greater depending upon the value of the property damages. Therefore, if you find the defendant guilty of criminal mischief, you must determine by your verdict whether:

- a. The damage to the property was \$1,000 or greater.
- b. The damage to the property was greater than \$200 but less than \$1,000.
- c. The damage to the property was \$200 or less.

(R. 41). The verdict form included three boxes for the jury to determine the value of the property damage, if it found the defendant guilty of criminal mischief. (R. 55).

During deliberations, the jury sent out a note with two questions: "Can we enter a verdict for count one without rendering an opinion on the value of the property?" and "Was there testimony about the amount of damage to the property?" (T. 290; R. 37-38). The trial court answered the questions as follows:

If you find the defendant guilty of criminal mischief, you must make a determination of the value of the property damaged. Your verdict with regard to the value must be for the highest amount which was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. If the exact value of the property damage cannot be ascertained, you should attempt to determine a minimum value. If you cannot determine the minimum value, then you must find the value is less than two hundred dollars. (T. 294).

Shortly thereafter, the jury returned a verdict against Mr. Marrero for felony criminal mischief. (T. 289, 294-96). At that point, the trial court denied the motion for acquittal on felony criminal mischief, but, noting the jury's "expressed [] concern for

The underlined portion of the response is not part of the standard jury instruction on criminal mischief; rather the trial court adopted it from the standard jury instruction on theft. *See* Fla. Std. Jury. Insts. 12.4 and 14.1. (T. 292-294).

the value," asked the parties to brief the issue prior to sentencing. (T. 300-301).

The defense filed a written motion for judgment of acquittal, citing a line of Florida cases standing for the proposition that, in the absence of competent, admissible evidence that the value of property damage exceeded \$1,000, the trial court was required to enter a judgment for second degree misdemeanor criminal mischief, where the property damage is \$200 or less. (R. 59-73). The State responded that, although it had concededly presented no evidence of the monetary value of the property damage, the jury was entitled to apply "their individual and collective life experiences" to the State's evidence of the size and type of materials damaged to infer that the value of the damage was at least \$1000. (R. 74-92).

The trial court agreed with the state and denied the motion for acquittal:

The State introduced a videotape of the criminal episode showing the Defendant driving his truck through the grand front entrance doors to the Micossukee Casino. The doors were very large ornate doors made of impact glass and framed in metal. Although the State failed to prove any direct evidence of the value of the doors, this Court finds that reasonable persons could not doubt that, based on the evidence presented to the jury which was sufficient and self-evident, coupled with their common knowledge and life experience, the very nature of the doors is indicative of a [sic] incontrovertible minimum value of \$1000. See, e.g., Jackson v. State, 413 So.2d 112 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982). (R. 93-94).

The trial court adjudicated Mr. Marrero guilty of felony criminal mischief and sentenced him to serve thirty-six months in prison on that count, with restitution to be

determined later.² (R. 95-98, 106-110).

On appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion for judgment of acquittal on felony criminal mischief. *See Marrero v. State*, 22 So. 3d 822 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009). In its decision, the Third District found that "[a]s a general rule, it will be necessary for the State to present evidence of the cost of repair or replacement in a criminal mischief case, if the State wishes to convict the defendant of mischief exceeding either the \$200 or \$1000 threshold. *See id.* § 806.13(1)(b)2., 3." *Marrero*, 22 So. 3d at 823. The Third District further acknowledged that the state did not present any evidence of the cost of repair or replacement of the four doors. *See id.*

It then expressed that contrary to this general rule "'[i]t has been said that 'a trial court may conclude 'that certain repairs are so self-evident that the fact-finder could conclude based on life experience that the statutory damage threshold has been met' ' *T.B.S. v. State*, 935 So. 2d 98, 99 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) (quoting *A.D. v. State*, 866 So. 2d 752, 753 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004)); *S.P. v. State*, 884 So. 2d 136, 138

At the restitution hearing, the state presented the testimony of the owner of the glass company who repaired the entrance doors. The owner testified that, after the incident, he installed temporary doors at the casino for a cost of eight thousand two hundred fifty dollars. (R. 192-93). He later repaired and installed the permanent doors for a cost of forty-seven thousand five hundred dollars. (R. 194-95).

(Fla. 2d DCA 2004); *Clark v. State*, 746 So. 2d 1237, 1241 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)." *Marrero*, 22 So. 3d 823. Based on this life-experience exception to the general rule requiring evidence of the cost of repair or replacement, the Third District held:

In this case the jury had a videotape of the collision which destroyed four extremely tall impact-resistant doors, including one door with a special mechanism for handicapped entry. We agree with the trial court that based on common experience, the jury could reasonably conclude that the cost of repair or replacement easily exceeded \$250 per door or \$1000 in the aggregate.

Marrero, 22 So. 3d at 823.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal, appellate courts apply a de novo standard of review. *See Pagan v. State*, 830 So.2d 792, 803 (Fla.2002). "In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, the question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could have found the existence of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Simmons v. State*, 934 So.2d 1100, 1111 (Fla. 2006) (quoting *Bradley v. State*, 787 So.2d 732, 738 (Fla.2001)). *See also Jackson v. State*, 25 So. 3d 518, 531 (Fla. 2009).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Florida, a person commits criminal mischief if he or she willfully and maliciously injures or damages property belonging to another. See § 806.13, Fla. Stat. (2006). The amount of damage to the property determines the degree of the crime. The state is required to prove the value of the amount of damages in a felony criminal mischief case beyond a reasonable doubt. This proof cannot be left to the jurors' inference or conjecture, nor can it be based on their individual life experiences. In this case, the Third District relied on a life-experience exception—"[i]t has been said that 'a trial court may conclude 'that certain repairs are so self-evident that the fact-finder could conclude based on life experience that the statutory damage threshold has been met"—to find that "that based on common experience, the jury could reasonably conclude that the cost of repair or replacement easily exceeded \$250 per door or \$1000 in the aggregate." Marrero, 22 So. 3d at 823.

This Court should reject the application of a life-experience exception to the requirement that the state must prove the essential element of the amount of damage greater than \$1000 to prove felony criminal mischief. Importantly, this exception, first formulated in *Jackson*, relies on a minimum value provision within the theft statute, and no corresponding provision is within the criminal mischief statute. Additionally,

the *Jackson* court's formulation of this exception is not supported by the plain language of the theft statute's minimum value provision.

This life-experience exception is also contrary to well-established law. A fact-finder's guesstimate at a minimum value, when the state has submitted no proof of value, is in direct contravention of a defendant's constitutional right to have the state prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt—without inference or conjecture. This exception is also in conflict with the well-established law that rough estimates and the mere proof of the nature of an item are insufficient to prove the value levels necessary for felony-grade offenses.

Additionally, a fact-finder's guesstimate cannot be valid as there is no showing that it is competent—that is that the fact-finder has personal knowledge or special knowledge based on skill, experience, or training regarding their individual opinion of value. This is especially true in this case where the jurors were asked to presume the cost of repair or replacement for four tall hurricane-impact glass entrance doors, one with automated handicap access. The cost of repair or replacement of these doors is not within the realm of common general knowledge or personal experience.

ARGUMENT

THE STATE IS REQUIRED TO PROVE THE VALUE OF THE AMOUNT OF DAMAGE IN A FELONY CRIMINAL MISCHIEF CASE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT; THIS PROOF CANNOT BE LEFT TO THE JURORS' INFERENCE OR CONJECTURE, NOR CAN IT BE BASED ON THEIR INDIVIDUAL LIFE EXPERIENCES.

In Florida, a person commits criminal mischief "if he or she willfully and maliciously injures or damages by any means any real or personal property belonging to another, including, but not limited to, the placement of graffiti thereon or other acts of vandalism." *See* § 806.13, Fla. Stat. (2006). The value of the amount of damage to the property determines the degree of the crime. *See id.* If the damage is greater than \$1,000, it is a third degree felony; if the damage is between \$200 and \$1000, it is a first degree misdemeanor; and if the damage is less than \$200, it is a second degree misdemeanor. *See id.*

"It is academic and a well established principle of criminal law that the burden of proof is on the State of Florida to establish every essential or material allegation of the information beyond a reasonable doubt before a verdict of guilty is established." *Rivers v. State*, 192 So. 190 (Fla. 1939). When the value of property or the amount of damage determines the degree of a crime, it is imperative for the state to prove this

amount. See Carnley v. State, 89 So. 808 (Fla. 1921); Negron v. State, 306 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 1975), receded from on other grounds by Butterworth v. Fleuellen, 389 So. 2d 968 (Fla. 1980). The state's proof must be based on conclusive evidence; it cannot be left to inference or conjecture. See Carnley, 89 So. 808 (Fla. 1921); Negron, 306 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 1975).

In *Carnley*, this Court considered whether the state presented sufficient evidence that the defendant committed the theft of property (hogs) greater than \$20. At trial, evidence was presented that 3 hogs were taken and that the hogs were about 100 pounds. There was also evidence regarding the per pound market value of the hogs. However, it was unclear from the evidence whether the hogs weighed 100 pounds collectively or individually; only if the hogs weighed 100 pounds individually would their value have exceeded \$20.

In deciding whether there was sufficient evidence of theft of property greater than \$20, this Court reiterated that "[t]o establish guilt upon this charge proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the property stolen was of the value of \$20 or more is required." *Carnley*, 89 So. at 808. It then noted that it could be inferred that the witness meant that each individual hog weighed 100 pounds. This Court, however, rejected the establishment of proof beyond a reasonable doubt based upon this inference and found

that the evidence only supported a finding of petty larceny, not larceny greater than \$20. Specifically, this Court held: "But essential elements of a crime cannot be left to inference or conjecture. The accused is presumed innocent, and every essential element of the crime must be proved as alleged. This is especially true in this class of cases, where the grade of the offense depends upon the value of the property stolen." *See id.* (citations omitted). *See also Bornstein v. State*, 54 So. 2d 519, 520 (Fla. 1951) (state's evidence that the two doors stolen were worth "customarily more" than the then threshold for grand larceny was insufficient to establish grand larceny); *Crawford v. State*, 96 So. 837 (Fla. 1923) (state's evidence regarding the value of a hog was of an "inconclusive nature" and therefore insufficient to establish embezzlement of property valued \$50 or more).

In *Negron*, this Court again reiterated: "The state had the burden to establish the offense charged beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt, not just inferentially. Moreover, it must clearly prove the degree of the crime." *Negron*, 306 So. 2d at 107-108 (emphasis added). In *Negron*, the question presented was whether the defendant committed grand larceny in an amount greater than \$100, or petty larceny. The only evidence presented at trial was that the articles stolen from a store had a wholesale price of \$96.70. There was no evidence regarding their market or retail

value. This Court reduced the charge to petty larceny as "[t]he stolen articles had 'some value' but there is not sufficient evidence of the items' market value or retail value at the time of the theft." *Id.* at 108.

Generally, evidence of value is sufficient if the following two-pronged test is satisfied. First, it must be shown that the person testifying is competent to testify as to value, and second, if competent, it must be shown that the person provides sufficient testimony of value. *See Gilbert v. State*, 817 So. 2d 980, 982 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). Regarding the second prong, as discussed above, evidence of value may not be based on inconclusive proof, inference, or conjecture. Mere proof of the nature of the stolen property is also insufficient to prove value. *See Randolph v. State*, 608 So. 2d 573, 574 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) (the only evidence presented of the stolen items was photographs of a few items of kitchenware, primarily dishes and two clocks).³ Additionally, evidence is insufficient to prove value, when the value is roughly estimated and no

_

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