IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-2390 DCA CASE NO. 3D08-188

LEONARDO MARRERO,

Petitioner,

-VS-

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

and

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD L. POLIN Miami Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0230987 FORREST L. ANDREWS, JR. Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 17782

Attorneys for the State of Florida Office of the Attorney General 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650

Miami, FL 33131

Telephone: (305) 377-5441 Facsimile: (305) 377-5655

LUNAR C. ALVEY Florida Bar No. 0173473 Assistant Attorney General

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

255, 264 (N.Y. A.D. 1st Dept. 2006) (agreeing with the prosecution that although "nothing in the photographs, standing alone, could establish an exact repair value," the photographs "did confirm the magnitude of the repairs required, and did establish that the costs would be far from trivial," and that "common sense dictates that repairs of the magnitude required in this case cannot be made in New York City for under \$250.").

The instant case is analogous to <u>Jackson</u>, <u>Tassone</u>, and <u>Davis</u> because it presents a unique set of facts upon which the jury could reasonably conclude that the damage to the casino doors exceeded \$1,000. Petitioner drove his pick-up truck through four large commercial sized glass doors that had an almost 42 inch opening for handicap patrons located at the Miccosukee Resort/Casino. (T. 198).

The doors were 16-17 feet high, divided into four segments and had an automatic door opener for handicapped patrons. (T. 197). The doors were also made of special aluminum and had six panels of hurricane impact resistant glass which were capable of withstanding 200 or 210 mile per hour winds. (T. 197-198).

Although the doors were working properly before the crash, they were completely destroyed and were not functional afterwards. (T. 192, 197).

The State also introduced the surveillance tape which allowed the jury to view the damage caused by Petitioner's truck crashing through the doors as it happened. (T. 209, 215-219).

Finally, it is not unreasonable to infer that the jurors, residents of Miami-Dade County, are familiar with the costs associated with hurricane impact glass since south Florida is a hot-bed for hurricane activity during the summer and fall seasons. See, District of Columbia v. Shannon, 696 A. 2d 1359, 1365 (D.C. 1997) (noting that when a matter falls "within the realm of common knowledge and everyday experience, a plaintiff will not need expert testimony to establish a standard and a deviation."); Garcia, 29 A.D. 3d at 264 ("common sense dictates that repairs of the magnitude required in this case cannot be made in New York City for under \$250.").

Based on this evidence, as well as common experience, the jury could reasonably conclude that the cost of repair or replacement of the casino doors easily exceeded \$1,000.

b) Petitioner Failed to Properly Preserve His Argument That the Life Experience Exception Contained in F.S. 812.012(10)(b) is Inapplicable to Criminal Mischief Cases.

Under the invited-error doctrine, a party may not make or invite error at trial and then be heard to complain of that error on appeal. Pope v. State, 441 So. 2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983); Cox v. State, 819 So. 2d 705, 715 (Fla. 2002). Further, "in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982); Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978); Section 924.051(1)(b), Florida Statutes (2008).

Moreover, failure to brief and argue points on appeal constitutes a waiver of those claims. <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990); <u>Coolen v. State</u>, 696 So. 2d 738, 742, fn. 2 (Fla. 1997).

During his motion for judgment of acquittal Petitioner argued that the evidence was insufficient to prove the amount of damages to the casino doors. (T. 238). At no point did Petitioner argue that the "life experience exception" contained in F.S. 812.012(10)(b) was not applicable to criminal mischief cases. (T. 290-293). In addition, Petitioner never argued that "[t]he Jackson court's formulation of this exception is not supported by the plain language of the theft statute's minimum value provision." (Initial Merits Brief, pg. 21).

In his initial brief on direct appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal, Petitioner attempted to distinguish <u>Jackson</u>, 413 So. 2d at 112 from the instant case but did not argue that the life experience exception is inapplicable to criminal mischief cases. (R. TAB A).

Sapp v. State, 411 So. 2d 363 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) is analogous to this case. In Sapp, the defendant argued that it was within the trial court's discretion whether to instruct the jury on the maximum and minimum penalties for the offense charged. Id. at 363-364. On appeal, however, he argued that it was mandatory for the trial court to do so. Id. at 364.

The Fourth District concluded that "[a] clearer example of invited error would be difficult to envision" because "not only did [the defendant] fail to apprise the trial court of his view (newly taken on appeal) that the rule was mandatory after this change; he in fact affirmatively stated that it was merely directory."

Here, similar to the defendant in <u>Sapp</u>, Petitioner agreed that it was appropriate to read the language of F.S. 812.012(10)(b) in response to the jury's questions. (T. 291-293). Therefore, even if the trial court erred, such error was invited by Petitioner's consent to the re-charge instruction. <u>McAllister v. State</u>, 874 So. 2d 1266, 1268 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) (trial court did not err in giving the

jury a dictionary where the defendant consented to this action when the jury requested it).

Furthermore, by failing to present his current argument to the trial court for review and ruling, or raising an objection, Appellant is precluded from raising the issue on appeal. Reed v. State, 603 So. 2d 69, 70 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); Sapp, 411 So. 2d at 364 ("One may not tender a position to the trial court on one ground and successfully offer a different basis for that position on appeal."); San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1345 (Fla. 1997) (defendant's failure to argue that his level of intelligence affected his ability to freely and voluntarily waived his Miranda rights precluded review of this issue on appeal); Davis, 569 So. 2d at 133-134 (noting defendant's failure to lodge a contemporaneous objection to further instructions which the trial court gave to the jury).

This issue is distinct from the sufficiency of the evidence argument made during Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal because the life experience exception contained in F.S. 812.012(10)(b) is not evidence; it was used as an instruction to recharge the jury. See, Fla. R. Crim. P. Rule 3.390(d), Florida Statutes (2008) ("No party may raise on appeal the giving or failure to give an instruction unless the party objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which the party objects and the grounds of

the objection...."); <u>Timmons v. State</u>, 448 So. 2d 1048, 1049 (Fla. 1984) (defendant's failure to object to misstated instruction at time it was given or at close of jury charge precluded review on appeal); <u>Steinhorst</u>, 412 So. 2d at 338 (stating requirement that a party must make a contemporaneous, specific objection or other timely request for a remedy to the trial court in order to preserve an issue for appellate review); <u>Castor</u>, 365 So. 2d at 703; F.S. 924.051(1)(b), Florida Statutes (2008).

Based on the foregoing, the trial court's response, if error, was invited by Petitioner who did not object to the response and agreed that it was appropriate. Therefore, since there is no fundamental error, and Petitioner failed to raise this argument in the trial court and the Third District Court of Appeal, this issue is not reviewable in the instant appeal.

c) Even if Petitioner's Argument That the Life Experience Exception Contained in F.S. 812.012(10)(b) is Inapplicable to Criminal Mischief Cases is Preserved, it Fails on the Merits.

Although the life experience exception is contained in the theft statute, Florida courts have recognized that it is applicable in criminal mischief cases. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>T.B.S.</u>, 935 So. 2d at 99 <u>quoting A.D.</u>, 866 So. 2d at 753-754 (permissible for trial court to conclude that "certain repairs are so self-evident that the fact-finder

could conclude based on life experience that the statutory damage threshold has been met..."); Clark, 746 So. 2d at 1241 ("We recognize that in theft cases, where the value of an item is so self-evident as to defy contradiction, specific evidence of value need not be introduced."); S.P, 884 So. 2d at 138 ("We recognize that in some circumstances, the fact-finder can infer from life experience and from the self-evident nature of the repairs that a statutory damage threshold has been met.").

The fact that this exception was not applied in <u>T.B.S.</u>, <u>A.D.</u>, <u>Clark</u>, and <u>S.P.</u>, however, does not mean that it cannot be applied in an appropriate criminal mischief case.

In fact, none of these cases rejected such an application; they merely found that the damage to the property at issue was not self-evident. <u>T.B.S.</u>, 935 So. 2d at 99 (recognizing that "a trial court may conclude 'that certain repairs are so self-evident that the fact-finder could conclude based on life experience that the statutory damage threshold has been met....," but finding that damage to car windows was not self-evident); <u>A.D.</u>, 866 So. 2d at 753-754 (recognizing life experience exception but finding that damage to home which consisted of a broken lock, and replacement of a bathroom vanity and a bathroom sink top was not self-evident); <u>Clark</u>, 746 So. 2d at 1241 (recognizing life experience exception but finding that cost of motor vehicle body repair not self-evident); S.P, 884 So. 2d at

138 (recognizing life experience exception but finding that nature of car repairs not self-evident).

Petitioner relies on <u>A.D.</u> to support his argument that photographs, and seemingly videotapes, are insufficient evidence to prove damage. (Initial Merits Brief, pg. 24-27). In that case, besides the photographs depicting the damage to the victim's home, there was also discrepancies as to amounts paid for the electric bill and evidence that some of the damage may have been caused by someone other than the defendant which contributed to the deficient evidence. 866 So. 2d at 753-754.

In the instant case, however, based upon the videotape viewed by the jury and eye witness testimony, all of the damage to the doors could be attributed to the Petitioner and there was no discrepancy as to amounts that could vary, such as an electric bill. The jury and the trial court could logically infer from the testimony provided by Ms. Garcia, Mr. Fuentes, and Mr. Rosas as well as based upon life experience that the damage to the doors was over \$1,000. Moreover, it was self-evident from the video viewed by the jury that the repairs would exceed \$1,000 based on the materials described and that the doors had been completely destroyed.

Miller v. State, 667 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) is also distinguishable from the present case. There, after being placed in a patrol car, the defendant

kicked out the right rear window. <u>Id.</u> at 327. Besides the fact that no evidence was presented concerning the value of the window, there was no video or photographs depicting the damage, the trial court failed to instruct the jury as to the amount of damages, and the jury verdict form did not include a reference to the amount of damages. <u>Id.</u> at 329.

Here, on the other hand, the State produced evidence regarding the nature and condition of the doors from which the jury could make a commonsense determination as to the damage, the trial court instructed the jury regarding its duty to determine the amount of damages, with Petitioner's approval, and the verdict form contained a reference to the amount of damages. (R. 55; T. 283-284). In addition, the value of repairing or replacing a rear window of a car is not so self-evident that it would exceed \$1,000 as "four extremely tall impact-resistant doors, including one door with a special mechanism for handicapped entry" is in this case. Marrero, 22 So. 3d at 823.

d) Application of F.S. 812.012(10)(b) To Criminal Mischief Cases Is Not Inappropriate Despite the Fact That There Is No Comparable Provision in F.S. 806.13.

Pursuant to F.S. 806.13, a person commits third degree felony criminal mischief "if he or she willfully and maliciously injures or damages by any means

any real or personal property belonging to another...." The terms "injures" and "damages" are not defined in the statute. Thus, "[i]n the absence of a statutory definition, it is permissible to look to case law or related statutory provisions that define the term." State v. Brake, 796 So. 2d 522, 528 (Fla. 2001); see e.g., State v. Fuchs, 769 So. 2d 1006, 1009 (Fla. 2000) (finding that term "contributing to the delinquency or dependency of a child" could be defined by reference to other chapters of Florida law and case law); State v. Mitro, 700 So. 2d 643, 645 (Fla. 1997) (finding that statute requiring documentation of age for issuance of identification card containing date of birth was not unconstitutionally vague because statute referenced another Florida statute setting forth methods of acceptable proof of age for children being admitted to school and terms "available" and "authenticated" could be given their common dictionary definitions); L.B. v. State, 700 So. 2d 370, 371 (Fla. 1997) (looking to dictionary to ascertain the plain and ordinary meaning of "common pocketknife" in statute defining what constitutes a weapon which may not be possessed on school property); State v. Hagan, 387 So. 2d 943, 945-946 (Fla. 1980) (finding that prohibited netting area encompassed by the Charlotte County waters of Charlotte Harbor could be ascertained with particular exactitude by looking at a different statute which delineated the boundary lines of Charlotte County and that the terms "trawling

operation" and "trawling net" could be defined by industry custom or by resort to a dictionary).

Here, a comparable definition of the value associated with injuring or damaging property is value as defined in the theft statute. F.S. 812.012(10), Florida Statutes (2008). Therefore, it is appropriate to borrow a definition from a different statute to define a similar term. Moreover, Petitioner agreed that this was an appropriate definition when requested for one by the jury. (T. 291-293).

Petitioner's argument that the life experience exception "requires that first, there must be a showing that the "exact value" cannot be "ascertained" and that "there must be some substantive proof of a minimum value" misconstrues the language of this statute. (Initial Merits Brief, pg. 27-28).

F.S. 812.012(10)(b) provides that:

[i]f the value of property cannot be ascertained, the trier of fact may find the value to be not less than a certain amount; if no such minimum value can be ascertained, the value is an amount less than \$100.

The clear language of this statute contemplates the absence of admissible evidence establishing the value of the property. Thus, it does not require the State to prove that an exact value cannot be ascertained under any circumstances as Petitioner argues.

Indeed, in <u>Jackson</u>, the sailboat had an ascertainable value, but such proof constituted inadmissible hearsay at trial. 413 So. 2d at 112-113. Nevertheless, the Second District held that the life experience exception was applicable because of such lack of evidence. Therefore, the life experience exception is equally applicable in the instant case where the casino doors had an ascertainable value, which was established during the restitution hearing (R. 231; SR. 2), but was not introduced during the trial.

Second, a requirement that "there must be some substantive proof of a minimum value" defeats the purpose of the exception. That is, if there were substantive proof of a minimum value, there would be no need to resort to the life experience exception.

Finally, although a comparable provision is not contained in F.S. 806.13, this Court is not precluded from applying it to criminal mischief cases as a tool to determine the value of damage "in rare instances when the minimum value is undisputable and the jury cannot ascertain a specific value from the evidence or lack of evidence before it." Jackson, 413 So. 2d at 112; Brake, 796 So. 2d at 528.

Next, Petitioner's argument that application of this exception to criminal mischief cases would conflict with "well-established law that rough estimates and the mere proof of the nature of an item are insufficient to prove value" is

misplaced. (Initial Merits Brief, pg. 28). There is no conflict because the self-evident nature of the damage as determined on a case-by-case basis, obviates the need for rough estimates. Further, there was more than just evidence of the nature of the damaged doors, there was specific testimony as to the unique components of the doors and the jury was able to view a video depicting their total destruction.

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